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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA 

____________________________________ 
       ) 
AMERICAN IMMIGRATION   ) 
LAWYERS ASSOCIATION   ) 
1331 G Street, NW, Suite 300   ) 
Washington, DC 20005-3142,   ) 
       ) 
    Plaintiff,  ) 
       ) 
 v.      ) No. _______ 
       ) 
UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF  ) 
HOMELAND SECURITY   ) 
Office of General Counsel   ) 
20 Massachusetts Avenue, NW   ) 
Washington, DC 20528    ) 
       ) 
and       ) 
       ) 
UNITED STATES CITIZENSHIP AND ) 
IMMIGRATION SERVICES   ) 
20 Massachusetts Avenue, NW   ) 
Washington, DC 20528,    ) 
       ) 
    Defendants.  ) 
____________________________________) 
 

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
 

1. This is an action under the Freedom of Information Act (“FOIA”), 5 

U.S.C. § 552, and the Administrative Procedure Act (“APA”), 5 U.S.C. §§ 701 et seq., 

seeking the release of withheld records concerning agency policies and procedures 

relating to nonimmigrant temporary workers and particularly the adjudication of petitions 

for their lawful employment in the United States.  The American Immigration Lawyers 

Association (“AILA”) seeks declaratory, injunctive, and other appropriate relief with 
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respect to the unlawful withholding of these records by the United States Department of 

Homeland Security (“DHS”) and its component the United States Citizenship and 

Immigration Services (“USCIS”) with oversight responsibility for immigration to the 

United States. 

Jurisdiction and Venue 

2. This court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. § 1331 and 5 U.S.C. §§ 552(a)(4)(B).  In addition, this Court has jurisdiction 

pursuant to the APA, 5 U.S.C. §§ 701-706.  This Court has jurisdiction to grant 

declaratory and further necessary or proper relief pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201-2202 

and Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 57 and 65. 

3. Venue lies in this district pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(4)(B) and 28 

U.S.C. § 1391(e)(2) as both plaintiff and defendants are located in the District of 

Columbia and because a substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to the 

claim occurred in the jurisdiction. 

The Parties 

4. Plaintiff AILA is a national association of over 11,000 attorneys and law 

professors who practice and teach immigration law.  Founded in 1946, AILA is a 

nonpartisan, not-for-profit organization that provides continuing legal education, 

information, professional services, and expertise through its 36 chapters and over 50 

national committees.  AILA member attorneys represent U.S. families seeking permanent 

residence for close family members, as well as U.S. businesses seeking talent from the 

global marketplace.  AILA members also represent foreign students, entertainers, 

athletes, and asylum seekers, often on a pro bono basis. 
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5. Defendant DHS is a Department of the Executive Branch of the United 

States Government and is responsible for enforcing federal immigration laws.  DHS has 

possession and control over the records sought by plaintiff.  DHS is an agency within the 

meaning of 5 U.S.C. § 552(f)(1). 

6. Defendant USCIS is a component of DHS and is responsible for the 

administration of immigration adjudication functions and establishing policies and 

priorities for immigration services .  USCIS has possession and control over the records 

sought by plaintiff.  USCIS is an agency within the meaning of 5 U.S.C. § 552(f)(1). 

NATURE OF THE ACTION 

7. The Immigration and Nationality Act (“INA”) § 101(a)(15)(H)(i)(b), 8 

U.S.C. § 1101(a)(15)(H)(i)(b), provides for the admission into the United States of 

temporary workers sought by petitioning employers to perform services in a specialty 

occupation.  The procedures and restrictions on the admission of so-called “H-1B” 

workers are set forth in INA § 214, 8 U.S.C. § 1184.  Regulations of DHS in 8 C.F.R. § 

214(h) and of the Department of Labor in 20 C.F.R. Part 655 implement the statutory 

authority. 

8. U.S. businesses rely on the “H-1B” program, administered by USCIS, to 

temporarily employ foreign workers—such as scientists, engineers, and computer 

programmers—in occupations that require theoretical or technical expertise in specialized 

fields.  In order for a nonimmigrant to come to the United States to lawfully work, a 

prospective employer must file and have granted a nonimmigrant petition on the 

individual’s behalf.  Congress has mandated certain restrictions on eligibility for 
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admission to the United States through H-1B classification as well as set certain caps on 

the number of foreign workers who may annually seek status through this program. 

9. At a “high level,” the process by which the government handles the receipt 

and review of H-1B petitions is generally known.  Upon receipt, USCIS creates a file for 

each original petition and supporting documentation submitted for obtaining H-1B 

nonimmigrant status.  Biographical data, such as name, date of birth, and country of birth, 

is entered into a case tracking system, and the file is assigned to an adjudicator who 

determines whether there is adequate information in the file to approve or deny the 

petition.  If sufficient evidence is available, the adjudicator makes a decision and enters 

the corresponding information into the tracking system.  In the case of insufficient 

evidence, the adjudicator requests additional information from the sponsoring employer 

by issuing a “Request for Evidence” (“RFE”) under 8 C.F.R §103.2(b)(8).  See also 

Characteristics of H-1B Specialty Occupation Workers, Fiscal Year 2009 Annual Report, 

October 1, 2008 - September 30, 2009, Department of Homeland Security, U.S. 

Citizenship and Immigration Services, April 15, 2010, Appendix A, p. 21, available at 

http://www.uscis.gov/USCIS/Resources/Reports%20and%20Studies/H-1B/h1b-fy-09-

characteristics.pdf. 

10. However, following a September 2008 “H-1B Benefit Fraud & 

Compliance Assessment” by USCIS, see http://www.uscis.gov/files/nativedocuments/H-

1B_BFCA_20sep08.pdf, in which a sampling of cases was found to include instances of 

fraud or technical violations in connection with the filing of H-1B petitions, USCIS 

adopted new, more stringent procedures for review and adjudication.  The RFE became a 

primary vehicle by which USCIS sought to obtain substantially more detailed 

Case 1:10-cv-01224-EGS   Document 1    Filed 07/20/10   Page 4 of 13



- 5 - 

information from a petitioner.  At the same time, the tightening of petition processing was 

accompanied by a near vacuum of publicly available information to guide petitioners on 

compliance in the new era of heightened scrutiny.  Still further, USCIS dramatically 

increased the frequency of unannounced worksite inspections—expected to reach 25,000 

visits in 2010 alone—in connection with H-1B cases. 

11. More specifically, as explained in a letter from USCIS Director Alejandro 

Mayorkas to Senator Charles Grassley dated November 10, 2009, see  

http://www.nationofimmigrators.com/wp-

content/uploads/2009/12/Mayorkas%20letter%20to%20Grassley%20re%20H-

1B%20visa%20fraud.pdf, USCIS issued field guidance to agency adjudicators instructing 

them to issue RFEs (and Notices of Intent to Deny or Revoke) in cases in which an 

adjudicator becomes aware of potential violations or non-compliance with the H-1B 

program.  Disclosure of this guidance has been sought by AILA and its nondisclosure 

forms part of the present FOIA dispute. 

12. Still further, after the issuance of the “H-1B Benefit Fraud & Compliance 

Assessment,” USCIS adjudicators also began to use an H-1B Petition Fraud Referral 

Sheet.  On information and belief, content in this document is analogous to content in the 

“H-1B Benefit Fraud & Compliance Assessment” published in 2008.  Disclosure of the 

H-1B Petition Fraud Referral Sheet has been sought by AILA and its nondisclosure forms 

part of the present FOIA dispute. 

13. On April 8, 2009, USCIS published a notice in the Federal Register 

announcing its submission of a form entitled “Compliance Review Worksheet” to the 

Office of Management and Budget (“OMB”) for clearance.  66 Fed. Reg. 15999 (April 8, 
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2009).  The notice, which explained that the form would be used to record the results of 

on-site inspections of businesses, sought comments from the public.  Yet the form itself 

was not attached to the notice or made available to the public for examination.  

Disclosure of this Compliance Review Worksheet has been sought by AILA and its 

nondisclosure forms part of the present FOIA dispute. 

14. USCIS provided a supporting statement with the Federal Register notice 

that described the purpose of the Compliance Review Worksheet.  See 

http://www.regulations.gov/search/Regs/home.html#documentDetail?R=0900006480953f83.  

The statement explained that, in response to the H-1B Benefit Fraud & Compliance 

Assessment and a similar study of fraud in the religious worker context, USCIS 

established the Administrative Site Visit Verification Program (“ASVVP”) to increase 

the number and enhance the uniformity of on-site visits to businesses applying for visas 

for foreign workers.  The ASVVP utilizes on-site inspections to determine whether the 

location of employment actually exists, and whether the beneficiary is employed at that 

location, performing the duties specified, and paid the salary identified in the H-1B 

petition.  The statement further explained that the Compliance Review Worksheet would 

be used by contract personnel who carry out these on-site visits to record the results of 

their on-site inspections.   

15.  Another document that has been publicly disclosed on the internet, is 

related to the ASVVP, and is relevant to the government’s withholding of the 

Compliance Review Worksheet from disclosure under FOIA is entitled “Compliance 

Review Report” and subtitled “Job Aid for Employment (H1B – Based).”  See, e.g., 

http://imminfo.com/Library/employer_issues/Compliance%20review%20report.pdf.  The 
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Compliance Review Report is intended to assist site inspectors at worksites by 

identifying the type of information that USCIS is seeking.  On information and belief, the 

Compliance Review Report that has been publicly available on the internet includes the 

same or similar information as the Compliance Review Worksheet that forms part of the 

present dispute. 

16. USCIS H-1B worksite visits also have been discussed and described in 

publicly-circulated documents, such as a “Practice Pointer” posted on AILA’s website.  

See, e.g., http://www.immigrateusa.us/content/view/1838/69/.  These documents provide 

details concerning the questions asked during the worksite inspections and the procedures 

followed by those conducting the site visits on behalf of USCIS. 

17. The reliability and fairness of an adjudication process—especially in an 

area with such great importance as immigration—can only be evaluated if the procedures 

and actions of the government agency are transparent.  To this end, AILA filed two FOIA 

requests with USCIS seeking detailed information relating to the current procedures for 

reviewing and adjudicating H-1B cases.  The public interest in these procedures is 

particularly high because the aforementioned recent measures implemented by USCIS 

concerning H-1B petitions have caused confusion and concern among U.S. businesses 

that legitimately depend on temporary foreign workers with specialized knowledge in 

order to operate successfully.  The measures additionally have caused confusion and 

concern on the part of foreign workers named as beneficiaries on H-1B petitions. 

18. The FOIA requests lodged by AILA seek to obtain records of particular 

importance in educating businesses, foreign workers, the bar, and the public at large 

concerning compliance with the H-1B rules, regulations, and associated law.  This action 
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concerns the failure of DHS and its component USCIS to release requested records under 

FOIA. 

PLAINTIFF’S FOIA REQUESTS AND 
DEFENDANTS’ FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH FOIA 

 
First FOIA Request 

19. By letter dated February 6, 2009, AILA submitted a FOIA request to 

USCIS in which it requested: 

Copies of any and all guidance, including but not limited to 
memoranda, standard operating procedures and templates 
used for Request for Evidence regarding adjudicating H-1B 
petitions issued as a result of, in connection with, in light 
of, or related to the Benefits Fraud Assessment report.” 

See Attachment 1. 

20. By letter dated March 18, 2009, AILA supplemented its request and 

additionally requested “a document entitled ‘H-1B Processing Fraud Referral Sheet’.”  

See Attachment 2. 

21. By letter dated March 20, 2009, USCIS and DHS acknowledged receipt of 

the original request and supplement (collectively, “First FOIA Request”), assigned case 

number NRC2009007831, but denied the request for expedited processing.  See 

Attachment 3. 

22. Nearly one year after AILA’s original request, by letter dated January 12, 

2010, USCIS and DHS identified six pages of responsive record(s) and denied the First 

FOIA Request in full pursuant to three exemptions – 5 U.S.C. §§ 552(b)(2) (internal 

agency rules), (b)(5) (inter- and intra-agency memoranda) and (b)(7)(E) (law 

enforcement).  See Attachment 4.  Other than citing these FOIA exemptions, USCIS 
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provided neither any identification of the withheld record(s) nor any explanation as to 

why the withheld records actually were covered by the asserted exemptions. 

23. By letter dated March 11, 2010, AILA filed an administrative appeal of 

the denial of the First FOIA Request.  See Attachment 5.  In particular, AILA appealed 

the withholding of the six pages of responsive record(s) from disclosure by USCIS and 

DHS.  AILA also challenged (i) the adequacy of the search for records responsive to the 

First FOIA Request, (ii) the failure to segregate non-exempt information from allegedly 

exempt information, and (iii) the alleged applicability of the cited FOIA exemptions to 

the records sought.     

24. AILA has not received any written acknowledgment from USCIS and 

DHS concerning its administrative appeal with respect to the First FOIA Request. 

25. USCIS and DHS have failed to disclose any records in response to the 

First FOIA Request. 

26. Records responsive to the First FOIA Request that should have been 

disclosed by defendants include, but are not limited to: (1) field guidance to agency 

adjudicators instructing them to issue Requests for Evidence and (2) an H-1B Petition 

Fraud Referral Sheet. 

27. AILA subsequently sent DHS a letter dated April 27, 2010 in which it 

reiterated its appeal for the withheld documents in an attempt to have the matter resolved 

without litigation.  See Attachment 6. 

Second FOIA Request 

28. By letter dated April 13, 2009, AILA submitted another FOIA request to 

USCIS (“Second FOIA Request”) and requested “[t]he Compliance Review Worksheet 
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mentioned in ‘Comment Request for Compliance Review Worksheet,’ 74 FR 15999 

(April 8, 2009),” see Attachment 7, a form for use by USCIS contract personnel to record 

the results of visits to businesses petitioning for H-1B temporary workers. 

29. By letter dated June 9, 2009, which assigned the FOIA request case 

number NRC2009023483, USCIS and DHS denied the Second FOIA Request in full 

pursuant to two exemptions –  5 U.S.C. §§ 552(b)(2) (internal agency rules) and (b)(7)(E) 

(law enforcement).  See Attachment 8.  Other than citing these FOIA exemptions, USCIS 

failed to provide any explanation as to why the withheld record actually was covered by 

the asserted exemptions. 

30. By letter dated August 7, 2009, AILA filed an administrative appeal of the 

denial of the Second FOIA Request.  Attachment 9.  In particular, AILA appealed the 

withholding of the responsive record from disclosure by USCIS and DHS.  AILA also 

challenged the alleged applicability of the cited FOIA exemptions to the record sought. 

31. By letter dated February 18, 2010, which assigned the appeal case number 

APP2009000743, USCIS and DHS denied AILA’s administrative appeal and affirmed 

the “total denial” decision with respect to the Second FOIA Request.  Attachment 10.    

32. USCIS and DHS have failed to disclose any records in response to the 

Second FOIA Request. 

33. The record responsive to the Second FOIA Request that should have been 

disclosed by defendants is the Compliance Review Worksheet. 

34. AILA subsequently sent DHS a letter dated April 27, 2010 in which it 

reiterated its appeal for the withheld documents in an attempt to have the matter resolved 

without litigation.  See Attachment 6. 
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EXHAUSTION OF ADMINISTRATIVE REMEDIES 

35. USCIS and DHS have failed to comply with the time limits set forth in 5 

U.S.C. § 552(a)(6)(A) or extend those time limit provisions pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 

552(a)(6)(B) with respect to the First FOIA Request.  Plaintiff AILA has exhausted any 

and all administrative remedies with respect to USCIS and DHS in connection with the 

First FOIA Request. 

36. Plaintiff AILA has exhausted any and all administrative remedies with 

respect to USCIS and DHS in connection with the Second FOIA Request. 

First Cause of Action: 
Violation of the Freedom of Information Act for 

Failure to Disclose Agency Records Pursuant to the First FOIA Request 
 

37. Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges paragraphs 1-36 above. 

38. Plaintiff AILA has a legal right under FOIA to obtain the agency records 

requested from defendants DHS and USCIS in the First FOIA Request, and no legal basis 

exists for defendants’ failure to make available the requested records. 

39. Defendants’ failure to make reasonable efforts to search for responsive 

records, and wrongful withholding of agency records, sought in plaintiff’s First FOIA 

Request violates FOIA, 5 U.S.C. §§ 552(a)(3)(A), 552(a)(3)(C), and 552(a)(6)(A) as well 

as the DHS and USCIS regulations promulgated thereunder. 

Second Cause of Action: 
Violation of the Freedom of Information Act for 

Failure to Disclose Agency Records Pursuant to the Second FOIA Request 

40. Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges paragraphs 1-39 above. 
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41. Plaintiff AILA has a legal right under FOIA to obtain the agency record 

requested from defendants DHS and USCIS in the Second FOIA Request, and no legal 

basis exists for defendants’ failure to make available the requested record. 

42. Defendants’ wrongful withholding of the agency record sought in 

plaintiff’s Second FOIA Request violates FOIA, 5 U.S.C. §§ 552(a)(3)(A) as well as the 

DHS and USCIS regulations promulgated thereunder. 

Third Cause of Action: 
Violation of the Administrative Procedure Act for 

Failure Timely to Respond to Request for Agency Records 

43. Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges paragraphs 1-42 above. 

44. Defendants’ failure to timely respond to plaintiff’s requests for agency 

records, and defendants’ withholding of agency records, constitutes agency action 

unlawfully withheld and unreasonably delayed, in violation of the APA, 5 U.S.C. §§ 701-

06.  Defendants’ failure to timely respond and withholding each are arbitrary, capricious, 

an abuse of discretion, not in accordance with law and without observance of procedure 

required by law, all in violation of the APA. 

REQUESTS FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, plaintiff requests that judgment be entered in its favor and against 

defendants, and that: 

(a)  defendants and any of defendants’ agents or other persons, departments, or 

components acting for, with, by, through or under them be ordered to conduct 

a reasonable search for records responsive to plaintiff’s requests under the 

Freedom of Information Act; 
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